WHITE’S HISTORY, GAZETTEER AND DIRECTORY OF STAFFORDSHIRE, 1851

CANNOCK, a large and well-built village, with about 1100 inhabitants, is pleasantly situated on the western verge of the extensive heath or chase from which it has its name, on the turnpike road between Walsall and Stafford, 8 miles N. by W. of the former, 9 miles S.S.E. of the latter town, and about four miles from the Spread Eagle, Brownhills, Four Ashes, and Penkridge Railway Stations.  Though not mentioned in Domesday book, it was a considerable village in the reign of King John, and had formerly a weekly market, which has long been obsolete.  It has, however, three annual FAIRS for cattle, etc, held on May 8th, August 24th, and October 18th, and a feast or wake on the Sunday after the latter fair.  Dugdale asserts that Henry I. had a summer residence here; and there are records of a castle having existed here, though no vestiges of it now remain.  Pitt says, “It was formerly a place of great resort, on account of the salubrity of Reaumore-hill well, which was a fashionable watering place in its day.”  The PARISH OF CANNOCK is very extensive, comprising about 20,000 acres, of which more than one-third is uninclosed on Cannock Chase.  It has a good light soil, well adapted to the growth of corn, turnips, and grass.  It contains only 2852 inhabitants, and is divided into the six liberties of Cannock, Great Wyrley, Huntingdon, Cannock Wood, Hednesford, and Leacroft, which support their roads separately, but their poor conjointly, except Great Wyrley, which is a separate township, and has a new district church. (See page 438.) They are in Penkridge Union, and the whole parish, except Great Wyrley and Huntington, is in the Manor of Cannock and Rugeley, of which the Marquis of Anglesey is lord, and holds Courts Leet, Baron, and Customary, yearly, in October.  The greater part of this manor is held by copyholders, who pay small chief rents and heriots. It includes the whole of CANNOCK CHASE, which comprises about 32,000 acres of heath, extending from the Trent, near Shugborough, southward nearly to Aldridge, a distance of 12 miles, and varying from 1 ½  to 5 miles in breadth.  About 18,000 acres of this chase have been enclosed and cultivated, or planted, during the present century, and the other 14,000 acres still form an open waste, on which the landholders of the surrounding townships have a right of common, commensurate with the extent of their respective estates, but we hope they will soon come to an arrangement for the enclosure of this extensive waste.   Respecting the etymology of the term Cannock Chase, several different opinions are held by antiquaries; some deriving it from Cangi, and others from Canute, the first Danish king of England.  But whatever may be the derivation of its name, it was doubtless a celebrated forest during the Saxon heptarchy, being the favourite chase of the Mercian kings.  It was then, and for many succeeding centuries, covered with a profusion of majestic oaks.  Several centuries have, however, passed away since it was stripped of its foliage, and converted into a black heath.  This sad change is well described by Drayton in his Polyolbion, but much more beautifully by Mr. Masters, in his Iter Boreale of 1675.  At the north end of the chase, near Rugeley, and on some parts of its western border, are several coal mines, in which is found a particular species of iron ore, called Cannock stone, which oxygenates so rapidly as to be capable of much useful application.  About 3 miles N. E. of Cannock village, is the Marquis of Anglesey’s beautiful seat, Beaudesert Park, one moiety of which is in the liberty of Cannock Wood, in this parish, and contains the vestiges of an extensive British encampment, a little to the south of which is RADMOOR, where there are some remains of an ABBEY of Cistercian monks, on whom the Empress Maud and King Stephen conferred a considerable extent of land in this neighbourhood, about the year 1154; but the monks soon afterwards removed to Stoneleigh, in Warwickshire, and their possessions here were given to the Paget family, by Henry VIII. (See Beaudesert.)


Cannock Church (St. Luke,) is an ancient structure, which has undergone many modern repairs.  The south side was rebuilt in 1753, and in 1849 the north side was restored, and the body of the church repewed, and new stalls placed in the chancel.  It has 615 sittings, and among its monuments are several memorials of the Walhouse family of Hatherton, the inhabitants of which township use this church, though they are in Wolverhampton parish.  The Dean and Chapter of Lichfield have had the appropriation of the tithes since the reign of King John, and also the advowson of the benefice, which is a perpetual curacy, valued at £183, in the incumbency of the Rev. F. T. Blackburne, M.A., who has a good Parsonage House, erected in 1839, at the cost of about £800.  An annuity of 8 shillings, left by an unknown donor, is paid out of an estate belonging to the Rev. W. B. Collis, towards the repairs of the church; and the incumbent has 20 shillings a year, left by Henry Stone, in 1639.  In the village is an Independent Chapel, built by subscription in 1824, and a Wesleyan Chapel, built in 1842.  The Plymouth Brethren have a preaching room here.  In the parish is a farm, let for £120 per annum, which was purchased for the augmentation of the church livings at Penkridge, Shareshill, Abbot’s Bromley, Brewood, Colwich, Weston-on-Trent, and Lapley.  PETTY SESSIONS are held on Fridays, at the Crown Inn, by two Magistrates of Penkridge Division.

CONDUITS. – As the large village of Cannock stands upon a gentle eminence, with a gravelly soil, the inhabitants frequently suffered considerably from a scarcity of water in summer, until the late Dr. Birch gave them the use of a copious spring, on his estate at Leacroft, distant about 1 ½ mile to the south.  Having obtained possession of this spring, a Mr. Blythe granted them a right of road through his grounds for the purpose of laying pipes into the lane leading to Cannock.  A subscription was consequently opened in 1735, and the sum of £478. 9s. was speedily raised by 88 individuals.  This money was expended in laying leaden pipes from the spring to a handsome stone conduit, near the bowling-green, in the centre of the village, and the principal inhabitants entered into a bond to keep the works in repair for seven years.  Subsequently, the inhabitants petitioned the late Earl of Uxbridge to allow them to enclose 30 acres of Cannock Chase, and to employ the rents in the reparation and improvement of the Water Works.  This prayer was complied with; but the rent of the land being inadequate to the intended extension of the works, two handsome subscriptions were afterwards raised – the last in 1786; since which the old pipes have been replaced by new ones, and several conduits or pumps set up in different parts of the village, so that the inhabitants are now abundantly supplied with excellent water at all seasons of the year.  Mr Edward Biddle is superintendent of the Water Works.


The Grammar School at Cannock was given by John Wood, of London, in the year 1680, and was endowed in 1752 and 1761 by John Biddulph, Esq, with a garden, and a meadow called Pool yard, let for £8 a year.  The master only teaches four free scholars.  The National School, with a house for the teachers, was built by the late Mrs. Walhouse, of Hatherton Hall, and is supported by Lord Hatherton, and attended by about 130 children.


The BENEFACTIONS to the poor of the parish amount to the following yearly sums, viz.: 10 shillings out of Coalpit-field, left in 1567, by William Alport; 10 shillings by William Wilson, in 1623, out of a close in Great Wyrley; 40 shillings by William Goldsmith, in 1702, out of Warwell farm; £10 10 shillings as the rent of two fields called Parson’s Byrch, left by John Troming; £8 from the interest of £160, which arose from the sale of timber cut off Parson’s Byrch, and from £20 left in 1707, by John Perrot, Esq., and now vested with the trustees of the Conduit Lands; 40 shillings out of four fields called Bullford Riddings, left by Mary Chapman; (the foregoing charities, amounting to about £21 per annum, are distributed among the poor parishioners on New Year’s day,) - 5 shillings to the poor of Leacroft, out of the New Lands in Norton, left by Ann Davis; and £5 out of Green-fields, Draper’s orchard, and Little School croft, left by Henry Smythe, in 1614, for a weekly distribution of 24 penny loaves at the church.  The poor of Huntington township have 5 shillings yearly out of Butcher’s and Hall’s crofts, left by Hugh Gratley; 20 shillings out of Poor’s piece, left by John Staley, in 1690; 8 shillings out of Widow’s meadow, left by Francis Stubbs; and 20 shillings out of land at Hatherton, left by an unknown donor.  The poor of Great Wyrley have an annuity of 10 shillings left by Humphrey Short, and 13 shillings yearly out of land at Chesterfield, in Shenstone parish, left by Ann and Alice Greensill.

CANNOCK DIRECTORY.

The Post office is at John Cook’s.

Letters are despatched by foot post to Walsall at 5 evening

Arthur Mrs Jane

Baldwin William, police officer

Barlow Richard, contractor

Blackburne Rev. Fras. Theophilus, M.A. incumbent, Parsonage

Buck William, relieving officer, assistant overseer, and registrar

Collis Rev. William Blow, M.A. incumbent of Norton Canes

Cook John, postmaster

Cotton William, corn miller

Crockett Mr. Thomas

Dawes Rev. Charles T., M.A. vicar of Dilhorne

Gilpin Bernard, (William & Co.) edge-tool, etc. manufacturer; house Wedges Mill

Gilpin Frederick, coalmaster

Griffiths Rev. Daniel, (Independent)

Gripton Thomas miller, etc. Walk Mill

Hand Mrs Ann

Harvey Miss Sarah

Henney Harriet, bonnet maker

Hobdey William, maltster

Hordern Mary

Lawson James, foreman, Wedges Mill

McQuaker Alex., traveller

Marshall William, druggist and farrier

Palmer Joseph, coalmaster, Long House Colliery

Palmer Lucy, dressmaker

Parkes Ann, gentlewoman

Sambrook William, seedsman, etc

Sant Edward, gentleman

Stubbs Misses

Taylor Edmund D., traveller

Thompson Mr William

Tuckwell Benjamin, revenue officer

Withnall Ann, milliner, etc

Worsey Mr Nathaniel, and Mrs.

Inns and taverns

Black Cock, William Henshaw, Wedges Mill

Crown Inn, (commercial) William Drury

Foundry Tavern, Thomas Gripton, junior

Roebuck, John Purchase

Royal Oak, Edward Withnall

White Swan, Robert Whitby

Academies

Arthur Caroline

Barlow Lucy, boarding

Benton Henry

Kennedy Thomas, Grammar School

Burston David and Mrs., National School

Bakers, etc

Bailey John

Ganderton John

Lawrence William

Beer houses

Bould John

Harris John

Smith Samuel

Walbank Charles

Blacksmiths

Benton John

Haddock William

Hathaway George

Butchers

Benton James

Corns John

Hobdey Thomas

Lindop Thomas

Brick and tile Makers

Emery Willam James, house Bednall

Henney Joseph

Tomlinson George

Boot and shoemakers

Ault Samuel, dealer

Bennett James

Benton James

Birch Edward, parish clerk

Hall Thomas

Hodson John

Smith Samuel

Watwood James

Drapers

Ault Samuel

Cope William, agent to Birmingham Fire Office

Farmers

Bailey John

Benton James

Burnett Benjamin G.

Drury William

Gripton Thomas

Harrison Thomas 

Lindop Thomas

Poyner Joseph

Smith William

Stubbs George John, Old Fallow

Tomlinson George

Withnall Edward

Grocers, etc

Palmer William (and ironmonger)

Parkes Chamberlain William

Plant Walter

Joiners and builders

Lawrence William

Tomlinson George

Plumbers, glaziers and painters

Biddle Edward (and paper hanger)

Ford Edward

Weston Thomas

Saddlers

Buxton Joseph

Withnall Joseph

Shopkeepers

Bailey John

Buxton Emma

Hall Thomas

Henshaw William

Sellmam Joseph

Trubshaw George

Vickers James

Wright Elizabeth

Surgeons

Holmes Thomas

Wheatcroft John

Wright Thomas

Tailors

Moor William

Trubshaw George

Trubshaw John

Wheelwrights

Brindley Joseph

Fellows George

Tomlinson George

Turnock Thomas

Carriers to Walsall Tuesday, Wolverhampton Wednesday, and Stafford Saturday.

Gibbons James

Sellman Joseph

Vickers James

